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transcript thea ofBatchelder, J., dissenting: In the absence of
would,court, I in thistestimony in the districtproceedings and

case, court.uphold the district
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(Tina attorney,attorney Nadeau,Arnold, general L. onJohn P.
the State.orally), forthe brief and

defender, Concord, by briefappellate ofDuggan,E. chiefJames
orally,and defendant.for the

ofapplicationtheBatchelder, appeal centers aroundThisJ.
the ratherHampshire toinrule Newthe “knock-and-announce”
Thompson,defendant, Alvinextraordinary Thethis case.facts of

Jury possessionCounty forHillsboroughby Grandindicted thewas
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property, cocaine,of stolen possessionsale of and with intent to sell
trial, only indictment,cocaine. After he was convicted on the third

318-B:26, by Judge J.)RSA (Murphy,and was sentenced the Trial
years. only appealto 6 to 15 The issue raised on is the1/2

constitutionality ruling denying(Contas, J.)of the of Trialthe Court
suppress.the defendant’s motion to The defendant claims that

by policeevidence seized the should have been excluded at trial
by police apartmentbecause the method which the entered his

rights guaranteed I,by partviolated his as article 19 of the New
Hampshire Constitution as well as the fourth amendment to the

entryUnited States Constitution. We hold that the into the
byapartment police constitutionallydefendant’s permissi-the was

and, accordingly, peculiarble we affirm. Since the factual situation
necessarily reach,in this case leads us to the conclusion we a brief

recital of inthese facts is order.
4, 1987, agents DepartmentOn June of the Nashua Police

byexecuted a search warrant which had been issued the Nashua
authorizingDistrict Court a search of the defendant’s second-floor

apartment seizingat 70 Tolies Street. In addition to certain
prompted drugcontraband that the defendant’s arrest on related

charges, police handgun. beingthe also seized a loaded After
charged drug offenses,with the the defendant was released on bail.

approach by police gain duringThe used the to access this search
apartmentof the testimonydefendant’s inwas described the of

Conley during hearingOfficer his direct examination at the on the
suppress. statingmotion to After entrancewaythat there was one

building outside, Conleyinto the from the Officer elaborated as
follows:

you’re inside, you“Once stairway. stairwaywalk into a The
extremely steep,is person.and it was made for one

up veryYou steep stairway, youwould walk a and would
youcome to openedanother door. This door towards so it

it, again,made police standpointuncomfortable from a to
get quickly.”have to in there

Thus, 4,as a theresult of June search of1987 the defendant’s
apartment, police placedthe dangerswere on notice of some of the
they might theyencounter should seek to execute additional

inwarrants the future.
Shortly bail,after the ongoingdefendant’s release on an

drug investigation policeundercover led the to believe that the
drugdefendant had inreestablished himself the business after the

resultingbrief interlude from his arrest on June A4. second search
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4,Augustdatedby CourtNashua Districtwas issued thewarrant
fivefour andby police betweenthe Nashuawas executedand

pointnoted at thismorning August 5. It should bein ofo’clock the
thesearch andintervening the firstduring betweenperiodthat the

changes insecond, investigation revealed substantialongoingthe
apart-accessibilityaffecting to the defendant’sthepremisesthe

over the outerhad been installedcamerasment. Two video
theinstalled to illuminatelight had also beendoorway, aand

exitingenteringpersons andwho observedviewing Officersarea.
opened, a buzzerthe door wasbuilding that beforenoticedthe

electronicallybeing unlockedindicatingsounded, that the door was
logicalbuilding. leads to theThis evidencethefrom inside

building the outsidefromenter thethat no one couldconclusion
cameras, whereupon thebeing by the videowithout first observed

inside.locatedby the electrical devicewas unlocked the use ofdoor
inside, entering person wouldonce anIt must be remembered that

out-swingingstairway cope with theandthen have to ascend the
door.

5, to avoidAugust policethe choseexecuting onIn the warrant
thea entrance intocustomary instead made directandthe entrance

against south sidesplaced the north andapartment from ladders
theon both sides ofbuilding. upstairs windowsTheof the

throughsmashed, policethe enteredbuilding andapartment were
played aapparentlywhichthe cocaineopeningsthese and seized

conviction.role in the defendant’s

grounded upon theclaim isThe defendant’s constitutional
knockingthey did, first andwithoutpolice entered asfact that the

premises. The “knock-and-­announcing presence thetheir on
Englishdevelopment of laworigin inits theannounce” rule had

Jones,v.holding court in Stateof thisdescribed in theand was
802,517-18, (1985), as follows:515, A.2d 804503127 N.H.

that anlong at common law officerbeen a rulehas“There
dwellingprivatea in ordergain toseeking admissionto

known,presencemake hismust firstwarrantexecute ato
Ifask for admission.identity purpose andgive andhis

forcibly gainmayadmission, thenthe officerdenied
English case decidedin anThe rule was statedentrance.

in 1604:
(ifKing party, the sheriff... is‘In when theall cases

house,may party’stheopen) breakthe be notdoors
thehim, execution ofto do otheroreither to arrest

enter. But beforehe cannotK[ing]’s process, if otherwise
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it, ought signify coming,he breaks he to the ofcause his
____’request openand to make to doors

Case,Semayne’s 91, Eng. Rep. 194,5 (1604).Coke 19577
commonlyThe rule is toreferred as the knock and

announce rule. The reasons most often cited for the
protection rightcommon law rule are the of an individual’s

privacy house,of in preventionhis and the of violence.
States,Sabbath 585,v. United (1968).391 U.S. 589

The knock widely adoptedand announce rule has been in
Congressthe United States. The of the StatesUnited

codified the common law rule for federal law enforcement
(1985).officials in 18 U.S.C. 3109 Numerous States have§

adoptedalso the common law knock and announce rule
through law, e.g., People 554,either case Lujan,v. 174 Colo.

559, 1238, (1971); Johnson,484 P.2d 1241 State v. 102 R.I.
344, 351-52, 831, (1967); by statute,230 A.2d e.g.,835 or
Deering’s Comp.Code,Cal. Penal (1982);1531 Mich.§
Laws Ann. (1982).”764.21§

enoughCommon sense is government’sto tell ifus that the
business can be resorting violence,conducted without to it must be

permitso strife,conducted. To confrontation,otherwise is to invite
and longviolence inwhich the protectionsrun will dilute the

guaranteed peacefulotherwise in a society.and ordered In State
supra,v. Jones adoptedthis court the knock-and-announce

protections as a 520,matter of State law. Id. at 503 atA.2d 805.
rule, however,The is not exceptions.without exceptionOne is

where the circumstances indicate that the evidence to be seized
pursuant likelyto a warrant is destroyed, hence,to creatingbe an
exigency. Ker California,v. 23,374 (1963);U.S. 39-40 see also State

Jones, supra 520,v. at exception503 A.2d at 806. Another exists
policewhere the physical announcingare at risk in presencetheir

premises.on the Kane, 974,United States v. 637 F.2d (3d978 Cir.
1981). inquiryWe now focus our on the former of these two
exceptions, and not on the latter.

The in stronglyfacts this case support the conduct resorted
byto police.the Between the time of the defendant’s first arrest

and the warrant,execution of the second an elaborate surveillance
system had been installed that occupantenabled the of the
apartment view, any point dayto night,at persons seekingor the
entry. The likelihood of the destruction of evidence under such

compelling.circumstances is recognizeWhile we protec­that the
provided by I,tions part Hampshirearticle 19 of the New
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amendment, neverConstitution, fourth areas well as those of the
protectionin of one’ssharperin when viewed thefocus than

thedwelling, us to hold thatfacts the case at hand leadthe of
exigency present appealthe must fail.exception was and

Affirmed.

All concurred.

Belknap
No. 88-301

Corp.Quality MarketDiscount

v.

CityPlanning Board, Laconia,ofLaconia
Wayside Co., Inc. Russell Harris& H.Harris Furniture

9,March 1990


